#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

INGRID PATIN, AN I AND PATIN LAW GI PROFESSIONAL LLO	ROUP, PLLC, A	Electronically Filed Oct 03 2017 10:45 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court		
	Appellants,	Case No.: 69928		
VS.				
TON VINH LEE,	Respondent.	Appeal from the Eighth Judicial District Court, the Honorable Jennifer P. Togliatti Presiding		

### **APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF**

#### **Marquis Aurbach Coffing**

Micah S. Echols, Esq. Nevada Bar No. 8437 10001 Park Run Drive Las Vegas, Nevada 89145 Telephone: (702) 382-0711 Facsimile: (702) 382-5816 mechols@maclaw.com

#### **Nettles Law Firm**

#### I. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

Appellants, Ingrid Patin and Patin Law Group, PLLC (collectively "Patin"), timely appealed from the District Court's February 4, 2016 order denying Defendants' special motion to dismiss pursuant to NRS 41.635 et seq., or in the alternative, motion to dismiss pursuant to NRCP 12(b)(5). 2 Appellants' Appendix ("AA") 403–408, 409–411. Patin's appeal is specifically authorized by NRS 41.670(4): "If the court denies the special motion to dismiss filed pursuant to NRS 41.660, an interlocutory appeal lies to the Supreme Court." This Court previously confirmed its appellate jurisdiction over the District Court's February 4, 2016 order denying Patin's special motion to dismiss: "[W]e conclude that the appeal in Docket No. 69928 is limited to the issues related to the February 4, 2016, order denying the original special motion to dismiss." See Order Regarding Jurisdiction in Docket No. 69928 and Dismissing Appeal in Docket No. 72144, at \*3 (Apr. 27, 2017). Therefore, this Court has appellate jurisdiction over the issues presented in this appeal.

## II. <u>ROUTING STATEMENT</u>

The Supreme Court should retain this appeal. Subsections (a) and (b) of NRAP 17 do not specifically address how NRS 41.670(4) appeals should be assigned. However, this appeal falls into the exceptions outlined in NRAP 17(a)(13) and (14): "Matters raising as a principal issue a question of first impression involving the United States or Nevada Constitutions or common law; and...Matters raising as a principal issue a question of statewide public importance, or an issue upon which there is an inconsistency in the published decisions of the Court of Appeals or of the Supreme Court or a conflict between published decisions of the two courts."<sup>1</sup>

Specifically, this anti-SLAPP<sup>2</sup> appeal first asks the Court to summarily reverse the District Court's order denying Patin's special motion to dismiss based upon issues of mootness. *See NCAA v. Univ. of Nev.*, 97 Nev. 56, 58, 624 P.2d 10, 11 (1981) ("Cases presenting real controversies at the time of their institution may become moot by the happening of subsequent events.") (citations omitted). Respondent, Ton Vinh Lee ("Lee"), filed a defamation per se lawsuit against Patin

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Patin refers to the numbering of NRAP 17(a) prior to the Order Amending Nevada Rules of Appellate Procedure 17 and 21, ADKT 501 (Oct. 12, 2016) since this appeal was docketed before January 1, 2017.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> "SLAPP" is an acronym for Strategic Lawsuits Against Public Participation.

based upon a statement posted on Patin's website summarizing a jury's verdict in a wrongful death case, Singletary v. Lee, District Court Case No. A656091, in which Patin was the lead counsel for the plaintiffs. 1 AA 1–4. However, Lee did not file his lawsuit after the jury's verdict in January 2014 (1 AA 19-24) or the judgment on the jury's verdict in April 2014. 1 AA 30–33. Instead, Lee waited until August 2015 after the District Court erroneously vacated the jury's verdict during post-trial proceedings in July 2014. 1 AA 60–72. Singletary successfully appealed, and this Court reinstated the jury's verdict in Case No. 66278. 2 AA 417–425. Because Patin's statement was true when first made and is true today, one issue in this appeal is whether the reinstatement of the jury's verdict relates back to Patin's original statement, such that it was always true. Cf. MDC Rests., LLC v. Dist. Ct., 383 P.3d 262, 267-268 (Nev. 2016) ("Here, our decision interpreting a constitutional provision...is necessarily retroactive to the extent that it is applicable from the date of...inception, rather than from the date of this decision."). Therefore, Patin contends that Lee's entire defamation per se lawsuit against her is moot because it cannot rest upon a reversed District Court order that no longer has any effect.

Second, this case asks the Court to apply the protections of the absolute litigation privilege to Patin's general summary of the jury verdict in *Singletary v*. *Lee* posted on her own law firm's website, as Patin was an attorney involved in the Page 3 of 44 underlying litigation case. *See Fink v. Oshins*, 118 Nev. 428, 433, 49 P.3d 640, 643–644 (2002) ("This privilege, as its name indicates, is absolute: it precludes liability even where the defamatory statements are published with knowledge of their falsity and personal ill will toward the plaintiff.") (citations and internal quotation marks omitted).

Third, Patin has presented several issues of error correction involving the interpretation and application of the anti-SLAPP statutes (NRS 41.635–NRS 41.670). However, she has also presented at least two issues of first impression: (1) whether the filing of a lawsuit qualifies as a "good faith communication in furtherance of the right to petition or the right to free speech in direct connection with an issue of public concern" for purposes of the anti-SLAPP statutes. *See JSJ Ltd. P'ship v. Mehrban*, 205 Cal.App.4th 1512, 1521–1522 (2012) ("Filing a lawsuit is an act in furtherance of the constitutional right of petition, regardless of whether it has merit."); and (2) whether the District Court's characterization of Patin's statement as attorney advertising qualifies as protected commercial speech. *See Taheri Law Group v. Evans*, 160 Cal.App.4th 482, 491 (2008) ("[T]he legislative history of the commercial speech exemption to the anti-SLAPP statute confirms the Legislature's intent to except from anti-SLAPP coverage disputes that are purely commercial.") (citations omitted). For these

several reasons, Patin asks the Supreme Court to retain this appeal based upon

NRAP 17(a)(13) and (14).

# III. <u>ISSUES ON APPEAL</u>

- A. WHETHER THIS COURT SHOULD SUMMARILY REVERSE THE DISTRICT COURT'S ORDER DENYING PATIN'S SPECIAL MOTION TO DISMISS UNDER NRS 41.660 DUE TO MOOTNESS SINCE SUPREME COURT CASE NO. 66278 REINSTATED THE JURY'S VERDICT IN THE UNDERLYING LITIGATION CASE, SINGLETARY v. LEE.
- B. WHETHER THIS COURT SHOULD, ALTERNATIVELY, SUMMARILY REVERSE THE DISTRICT COURT'S ORDER DENYING PATIN'S SPECIAL MOTION TO DISMISS UNDER NRS 41.660 BASED UPON THE ABSOLUTE LITIGATION PRIVILEGE SINCE LEE'S SOLE DEFAMATION PER SE CLAIM AGAINST PATIN WAS BASED UPON A STATEMENT MADE ABOUT THE UNDERLYING LITIGATION CASE, *SINGLETARY v. LEE.*
- C. WHETHER THIS COURT SHOULD REVERSE THE DISTRICT COURT'S ORDER DENYING PATIN'S SPECIAL MOTION TO DISMISS UNDER NRS 41.660 SINCE:
  - 1. <u>The District Court applied the wrong version of NRS 41.660, requiring Lee to present only prima facie evidence of prevailing;</u>
  - 2. <u>Patin's statement referenced the underlying litigation case,</u> <u>Singletary v. Lee, which is protected and unequivocally</u> <u>qualifies as a "good faith communication in furtherance of</u> <u>the right to petition or the right to free speech in direct</u> <u>connection with an issue of public concern";</u>
  - 3. <u>Patin's statement referencing the underlying litigation case,</u> <u>Singletary v. Lee, is true and not capable of a defamatory</u> <u>per se construction;</u>

- 4. <u>Patin's statement referencing the underlying litigation case,</u> <u>Singletary v. Lee, is also protected by the absolute fair</u> <u>report privilege;</u>
- 5. <u>Lee's sole claim for defamation per se against Patin</u> <u>improperly relies upon the Nevada Rules of Professional</u> <u>Conduct and is not actionable;</u> and
- 6. <u>Patin's statement referencing the underlying litigation case,</u> <u>Singletary v. Lee, was characterized by the District Court as</u> <u>attorney advertising, such that the statement qualifies as</u> <u>protected commercial speech.</u>

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

At its core, Lee's defamation per se complaint against Patin is a retaliation suit for the wrongful death jury verdict Patin obtained for her clients against Lee's dental practice, Summerlin Smiles, and one of his dentists. 1 AA 1–4, 30–33. This appeal asks the Court to enforce the anti-SLAPP statutes to swiftly halt Lee's frivolous litigation against Patin. The District Court's order denying Patin's special motion to dismiss contains several layers of reversible error, and this Court should reverse. 2 AA 403–408. Following the jury's verdict in *Singletary v. Lee*, Patin posted the following statement on her law firm's website:

DENTAL MALPRACTICE/WRONGFUL DEATH PLAINTIFF'S VERDICT \$3.4M, 2014 Description: Singletary v. Ton Vinh Lee, DDS, et al.

A dental malpractice-based wrongful death action that arose out of the death of Decedent Reginald Singletary following the extraction of the No. 32 wisdom tooth by Defendants on or about April 16, 2011. Plaintiff sued the dental office, Summerlin Smiles, the owner, Ton

Page 6 of 44

Vinh Lee, DDS, and the treating dentists, Florida Traivai, DMD and Jai Park, DDS, on behalf of the Estate, herself and minor son.

1 AA 76-80. After the District Court erroneously vacated the jury verdict in

Singletary v. Lee, Patin updated the description of the case on her website:

# DENTAL MALPRACTICE/WRONGFUL DEATH - PLAINTIFF'S VERDICT, 2014 Description: Singletary v. Ton Vinh Lee, DDS, et al.

A dental malpractice-based wrongful death action that arose out of the death of Decedent Reginald Singletary following the extraction of the No. 32 wisdom tooth by Defendants on or about April 16, 2011. Plaintiff sued the dental office, Summerlin Smiles, the owner, Ton Vinh Lee, DDS, and the treating dentists, Florida Traivai, DMD and Jai Park, DDS, on behalf of the Estate, herself and minor son. The matter is currently on appeal.

1 AA 98–99. However, in Supreme Case No. 66278, *Singletary v. Lee*, this Court reinstated the jury's verdict: "We therefore reverse the district court's judgment as a matter of law and direct the district court to reinstate the jury's verdict." 2 AA 417–425. Therefore, based upon this Court's order reinstating the jury's verdict, Lee's entire defamation per se lawsuit against Patin is moot, and this Court should summarily reverse the District Court's order denying Patin's special motion to dismiss under NRS 41.660. *See NCAA v. Univ. of Nev.*, 97 Nev. 56, 58, 624 P.2d 10, 11 (1981) ("Cases presenting real controversies at the time of their institution may become moot by the happening of subsequent events.") (citations omitted).

Alternatively, this Court should summarily reverse the District Court's order denying Patin's special motion to dismiss under NRS 41.660 based upon the absolute litigation privilege. This Court has consistently held that both litigants and attorneys are immune from liability for statements made in connection with litigation. *See Fink v. Oshins*, 118 Nev. 428, 433, 49 P.3d 640, 643–644 (2002) ("This privilege, as its name indicates, is absolute: it precludes liability even where the defamatory statements are published with knowledge of their falsity and personal ill will toward the plaintiff.") (citations and internal quotation marks omitted); *Circus Circus Hotels v. Witherspoon*, 99 Nev. 56, 60, 657 P.2d 101, 104 (1983) (concluding that Nevada follows the long-standing common law rule that communications made in the course of judicial proceedings even if known to be false are absolutely privileged) (citations omitted). Therefore, based upon the absolute litigation privilege, this Court should summarily reverse the District Court's order denying Patin's special motion to dismiss under NRS 41.660.

Even if the Court reaches the statutory analysis of the anti-SLAPP statutes, the Court should still reverse the District Court's order denying Patin's special motion to dismiss under NRS 41.660 for any one of several reasons. First, the District Court erroneously applied NRS 41.660(3)(b) retroactively to benefit Lee with the lower standard "whether the plaintiff has demonstrated with prima facie evidence a probability of prevailing on the claim" in the current 2015 version of this statute. In reality, Lee had to meet the more stringent standard "whether the plaintiff has established by clear and convincing evidence a probability of Page 8 of 44 prevailing on the claim" in the prior 2013 version of this statute. *See Delucchi v. Songer*, 396 P.3d 826, 830–831 (Nev. 2017). The proper remedy for the District Court's use of an improper legal standard to analyze an issue is for this Court to reverse and remand. *Id.*; *Potter v. Potter*, 121 Nev. 613, 618–619, 119 P.3d 1246, 1250 (2005) (reversing and remanding a district court order where an improper legal standard was applied to a custody issue).

Second, Patin's statement about *Singletary v. Lee* placed on her law firm's website is protected and unequivocally qualifies as a "good faith communication in furtherance of the right to petition or the right to free speech in direct connection with an issue of public concern." NRS 41.637(3) includes within this good faith communication a "[w]ritten or oral statement made in direct connection with an issue under consideration by a legislative, executive or judicial body, or any other official proceeding authorized by law." The case law construing anti-SLAPP statutes uniformly includes the filing of a lawsuit, such as *Singletary v. Lee*, as an act in furtherance of the right to petition. *See JSJ Ltd. P'ship v. Mehrban*, 205 Cal.App.4th 1512, 1521–1522 (2012) ("Filing a lawsuit is an act in furtherance of the constitutional right of petition, regardless of whether it has merit."). Therefore, the District Court once again erred in construing NRS 41.637, and this Court should reverse.

Third, Patin's statement referencing the underlying litigation case, *Singletary v. Lee*, is true and not capable of a defamatory per se construction. Lee only takes issue with Patin's first statement placed on her law firm's website. 1 AA 1–4. However, nothing within Patin's statement constitutes defamation. *See, e.g., Chowdry v. NLVH, Inc.*, 109 Nev. 478, 483, 851 P.2d 459, 462 (1993). Since each of the sentences in Patin's statement is true, her statement cannot be categorized as defamation per se. *See Nevada Ind. Broadcasting, Inc.*, 99 Nev. 404, 409, 664 P.2d 337, 341 (1983).

Fourth, Patin's statement referencing the underlying litigation case, *Singletary v. Lee*, is also protected by the absolute fair report privilege. Patin's statement describing *Singletary v. Lee* was only one of several publications summarizing the judicial proceedings and the jury's verdict. 1 AA 34–37, 38–41. Lee, nevertheless, chose to sue only Patin, demonstrating the retaliatory nature of his complaint for defamation per se. Yet, Nevada law protects Patin's republication of the *Singletary v. Lee* judicial proceedings according to the absolute fair report privilege. *See Sahara Gaming Corp. v. Culinary Workers Union Local 226*, 115 Nev. 212, 215, 984 P.2d 164, 166 (1999) ("The law has long recognized a special privilege of absolute immunity from defamation given to the news media and the general public to report newsworthy events in judicial proceedings."). This Court has recently reaffirmed the wisdom of the absolute fair Page 10 of 44 report privilege. Adelson v. Harris, 133 Nev. Adv. Op. No. 67, at \*5-6 (Sep. 27, 2017).

Fifth, Lee's sole claim for defamation per se against Patin improperly relies upon the Nevada Rules of Professional Conduct and is not actionable. 1 AA 1–4. Lee's complaint references RPC 7.2 (Advertising) and requests relief based upon his interpretation of this rule. 1 AA 3, ¶ 19. But, RPC 1.0A confirms, "Violation of a Rule should not itself give rise to a cause of action against a lawyer nor should it create any presumption in such a case that a legal duty has been breached.... [The Rules] are not designed to be a basis for civil liability." Notably, Lee has already unsuccessfully pursued a Nevada State Bar complaint against Patin based upon his same argument raised in this litigation. 1 AA 100–101.

Finally, Patin's statement referencing the underlying litigation case, *Singletary v. Lee*, was characterized by the District Court as attorney advertising, such that the statement qualifies as protected commercial speech. 2 AA 406. If this Court agrees that Patin's statement on her law firm's website was only attorney advertising, the statement would still be protected under the anti-SLAPP laws as protected commercial speech. *See Taheri Law Group v. Evans*, 160 Cal.App.4th 482, 491 (2008) ("[T]he legislative history of the commercial speech exemption to the anti-SLAPP statute confirms the Legislature's intent to except from anti-SLAPP coverage disputes that are purely commercial.").

Page 11 of 44

In summary, Patin asks this Court to summarily reverse the District Court's order denying her special motion to dismiss under NRS 41.660 based upon the mootness of Lee's entire defamation per se lawsuit and the absolute litigation privilege. If the Court reaches the actual interpretation and application of the anti-SLAPP statutes, the Court should likewise reverse based upon (1) the District Court's improper application of the 2015 version of NRS 41.660(3)(b); (2) Patin's "good faith communication in furtherance of the right to petition or the right to free speech in direct connection with an issue of public concern"; (3) the truth of Patin's statement posted on her law firm's website; (4) the protection of the absolute fair report privilege; (5) the lack of merit in Lee's reliance on the Nevada Rule of Professional Conduct for his defamation per se claim; and (6) Patin's statement as protected commercial speech under anti-SLAPP laws.

If the Court reverses the District Court's order denying Patin's special motion to dismiss under NRS 41.660 for any one of these reasons, the Court should also direct the District Court on remand to award her damages, attorney fees, and costs according to NRS 41.670.

#### V. <u>STANDARDS OF REVIEW</u>

This Court's review of an order denying a request for dispositive relief, such as a dismissal order or a summary judgment order, is reviewed de novo. *See Johnson v. Wells Fargo Bank Nat'l Ass'n*, 382 P.3d 914, 916 (Nev. 2016); *Cromer v. Wilson*, 126 Nev. 106, 109, 225 P.3d 788, 790 (2010).

This Court reviews questions of law de novo. *See Birth Mother v. Adoptive Parents*, 118 Nev. 972, 974, 59 P.3d 1233, 1235 (2002). Statutory interpretation is a question of law that this Court reviews de novo. *Id.* A district court's application of an improper legal rule also carries a de novo review. *Staccato v. Valley Hosp.*, 123 Nev. 526, 530, 170 P.3d 503, 505–506 (2007).

The applicability of the absolute litigation privilege is a matter of law for the court to decide, which this Court will review de novo. *Fink v. Oshins*, 118 Nev. 428, 432, 49 P.3d 640, 643 (2002). Whether a statement is defamatory is generally a question of law; however, where a statement is susceptible of different constructions, one of which is defamatory, resolution of the ambiguity is a question of fact for the jury. *Posadas v. City of Reno*, 109 Nev. 448, 453, 851 P.2d 438, 442 (1993) (citation and internal quotation marks omitted).

## VI. FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

## A. THE UNDERLYING SINGLETARY v. LEE LITIGATION.

In February 2012, Plaintiff Svetlana Singletary, individually and as the representative of the Estate of Reginald Singletary, and her minor son Gabriel L. Singletary filed a wrongful death complaint against Ton Vinh Lee, DDS, individually; Florida Traivai, DMD, individually; Jai Park, DDS, individually; and Ton V. Lee, DDS, Prof. Corp. d/b/a Summerlin Smiles. 1 AA 18. As published in *The Trial Reporter* at the conclusion of the jury trial:

1/22/14 - Judge JERRY A. WIESE - CV A656091 - SINGLETARY (Lloyd W. Baker, Ingrid M. Patin, and Jessica M. Goodey of Baker Law Offices) v LEE, D.D.S., dba SUMMERLIN SMILES (Jason B. Friedman of Stark, Friedman & Chapman, L.L.P., of Long Beach, California); PARK, D.D.S. (Edward J. Lemons of Lemons, Grundy & Eisenberg, P.C.); and TRAIVAI, D.M.D. (S. Brent Vogel of Lewis, Brisbois, Bisgaard & Smith, L.L.P.) - WRONGFUL DEATH -MALPRACTICE - DENTAL FAILURE MEDICAL -TO DIAGNOSE/TREAT - INFECTION - LACK OF INFORMED CONSENT. Prologue: Decedent presented to Dfnt Summerlin Smiles, on March 24, 2011, for routine dental work. New patient examination was done. Dfnts dentists Traivai and Park were independent contractors of Dfnt Summerlin Smiles. On April 16th, Decedent returned to Dfnt Summerlin Smiles for an extraction of the number 32 wisdom tooth, performed by Dfnt Traivai. Following the extraction, Decedent experienced ongoing severe pain in the extraction area on the right side of his face; swelling of the face, jaw, and neck; plus difficulty swallowing. Dfnt Summerlin Smiles was allegedly contacted via telephone on April 18th, and Decedent was advised to call again if his symptoms did not subside within four to five days. Decedent continued to experience his prior symptoms, and had difficulty swallowing, as well as difficulty speaking and eating, on April 19th and April 20th. Decedent was vomiting, began having difficulty

Page 14 of 44

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