IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

INGRID PATIN, AN INDIVIDUAL; AND PATIN LAW GROUP, PLLC, A PROFESSIONAL LLC,

Appellants,

v.

TON VINH LEE,

Respondent.

Supreme Court Case No.: 69928 Ily Filed District Court Case No. 272017 09:00 a.m. 723134-C Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

PRESCOTT T. JONES, ESQ. Nevada Bar No. 11617 RESNICK & LOUIS, P.C. 5940 S. Rainbow Blvd. Las Vegas, Nevada 89148 Telephone: (702) 997-3800 Facsimile: (702) 997-1029

pjones@rlattorneys.com
Attorneys for Respondent Ton Vinh Lee

NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE

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

Description: Singletary v. Ton Vinh Lee, DDS, et al.

A dental malpractice-based wrongful death action that arose out of the death of Decedent Reginald Singletary following the extraction of the No. 32 wisdom tooth by Defendants on or about April 16, 2011. Plaintiff sued the dental office, Summerlin Smiles, the owner, Ton Vinh Lee, DDS, and the treating dentists, Florida Traivai, DMD and Jai Park, DDS, on behalf of the Estate, herself and minor son.

1 A.A. 77. The statement is indisputably false as against Respondent because no verdict against Respondent was obtained at all. Instead, Respondent received a judgment on jury verdict in his favor. 1 A.A. 73-75. This judgment was not impacted in any way as a result of subsequent appeals.

Nonetheless, "words must be reviewed in their entirety and in context in order to determine whether they are susceptible of defamatory meaning." *Chowdhry*, 109 Nev. at 483. Furthermore, "the truth or falsity of an allegedly defamatory statement is an issue of fact properly left to the jury for resolution." *Posadas*, 109 Nev. at 453; *see also Fink v. Oshins*, 118 Nev. 428, 437, 49 P.3d 640, 646 (2002). While Appellants rely on a number of sources that published the "verdict" in the underlying medical malpractice and wrongful death suit, Appellants, in an obvious attempt to mislead this Court, completely and utterly fail to mention that the true outcome of the case as to Respondent which resulted in a Judgment on Jury Verdict For Defendant Ton Vinh Lee, DDS filed on September 11, 2014 which states in relevant part:

This action came on for trial before the Eighth Judicial District Court and a jury on January 13, 2014, before Honorable Jerry A. Wiese, II, District Judge, presiding, and the issues having been duly tried and the jury having duly rendered its verdict,

IT IS SO ORDERED AND ADJUDGED, that judgment be entered in favor of Defendant Ton Vinh Lee, DDS.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED AND ADJUDGED, that Defendant Ton Vinh Lee, DDS is entitled to his costs in the amount of Six Thousand Thirty Two Dollars and Eighty Three Cents (\$6,032.83), as the prevailing party under Nevada Revised Statute 18.020.

2 A.A. 288-90. Not only was a judgment entered in favor of Respondent, but even more striking is the fact that the Judgment was prepared and submitted by

Appellants themselves. 2 A.A. 288-290. As such, Appellants' assertion that the subject defamatory statement is true is not only patently false, but constitutes an attempt to mislead this Court by omitting a key detail that puts the statement and its defamatory nature into context. *See Chowdhry* at 483.

A statement is defamatory when "under any reasonable definition[,] such charges would tend to lower the subject in the estimation of the community and to excite derogatory opinions against him and to hold him up to contempt." Las Vegas Sun v. Franklin, 74 Nev. 282, 287 (1958). Here, there is no doubt that naming Respondent in connection with a wrongful death/dental malpractice case, and claiming a \$3.4 million verdict in favor of the Singletary plaintiffs, "tends to lower the subject in the estimation of the community," would "excite derogatory opinions against him," and "hold him up to contempt." Appellants made the absurd claim to the district court that "[n]o ordinary person reading the statement in its entirety could reasonably conclude that the post was suggesting Dr. Lee was an unfit dentist or that he had personally committed malpractice." 1 A.A. 131. Respondent is named twice in his personal capacity, under the heading "DENTAL MALPRACTICE/WRONGFUL DEATH - PLAINTIFF'S VERDICT \$3.4M, 2014."

Appellants made the further absurd claim that "[e]ven if it [the statement] were not entirely true, it would still certainly be substantially true under *Pegasus*."

1 A.A. 130. *Pegasus* did not involve, in any way, shape, or form, a Special Motion to Dismiss brought under an Anti-SLAPP law. Nonetheless, as noted by the district court in its order on the special motion to dismiss (2 A.A. 406), "the truth or falsity of an allegedly defamatory statement is an issue of fact properly left to the jury for resolution." *Posadas*, 109 Nev. at 453; *see also Fink*, 118 Nev. at 437.

Appellants did not address prong (2) in their special motion to dismiss, that the statement involve "an unprivileged publication to a third person." Because the statement was made in the form of an attorney advertisement from Appellants' web site, that prong is easily fulfilled.

The third prong, that "the existence of fault, amounting to at least negligence" be shown, was also not addressed by Appellants in their special motion to dismiss. However, as trial/appellate counsel, Respondents cannot claim that they were unaware that Appellant received a judgment in his favor on a jury verdict.

The last prong, that the defamation tends to injure a plaintiff or his or her business or profession, was also not addressed in the special motion to dismiss. However, as discussed above, the fact that the statement names Respondent personally in connection with a wrongful death/dental malpractice case, and claiming a \$3.4 million verdict in favor of the Singletary plaintiffs, is prima facie evidence that this prong is satisfied.

Lastly, Appellants set forth the improper standard when the burden shifts to a plaintiff in a special motion to dismiss, claiming that Respondent must show their case by "clear and convincing evidence." That is, of course, no longer the standard in Nevada, as Respondent must now only "demonstrate[] with prima facie evidence a probability of prevailing on the claim." NRS 41.660(3)(b) (emphasis added). As set forth above, the 2015 amendments to Nevada's Anti-SLAPP laws took effect prior to the filing of the underlying district court litigation. Accordingly, the district court did not abuse its discretion in ruling that the Respondent presented prima facie evidence demonstrating a probability of prevailing on his claim.

Based on the foregoing, the appeal can only be successful if the Appellants demonstrate **both** (1) the district court abused its discretion in ruling that the communication is not a good faith communication in furtherance of the right to petition or the right to free speech in direct connection with an issue of public concern, **and** (2) the district court abused its discretion in ruling that the Respondent presented prima facie evidence demonstrating a probability of prevailing on his claim. Because the district court clearly did not abuse its discretion in either part of its February 4, 2016 order, the appeal must be denied and the district court ruling upheld.

B. THIS COURT SHOULD REJECT APPELLANT'S ARGUMENT RELATING TO THE ABSOLUTE LITIGATION PRIVILEGE AS IT WAS NOT RAISED IN THE UNDERLYING DISTRICT COURT LITIGIATION AND IS, NONETHELESS, INAPPLICABLE TO THE INSTANT MATTER.

This Court must reject Appellants' assertion of the absolute litigation privilege because (1) the privilege was not previously invoked at the district court level, (2) the absolute litigation privilege is outside of the scope of the appealed motion, and therefore, outside of the permissible scope of this appeal, and (3) is nonetheless inapplicable as the defamatory statement is outside of the scope of the privilege.

In Nevada, a party cannot raise an issue on appeal that it did not first make to the district court in the underlying litigation. *See In re AMERCO Derivative Litigation*, 127 Nev. 196, 217 n.6, 252 P.3d 681, 697 n.6 (2011) ("we decline to address an issue raised for the first time on appeal."). Here, as is shown in examination of the special motion to dismiss under NRS 41.660 (1 A.A. 120-136), the reply brief submitted in support thereof (2 A.A. 310-323), and the transcript of the November 18, 2015 hearing on the special motion to dismiss under NRS 41.660 (2 A.A. 352-361), no mention or discussion of the absolute litigation privilege is made whatsoever. As such, this Court must reject Appellants' arguments relating to the absolute litigation privilege.

Even if this Court is inclined to disregard the Appellants' failure to raise the absolute litigation privilege at the district court level, this Court must also reject the argument because the absolute litigation privilege is inapplicable to the instant Simply put, Appellants exhibit a profound misunderstanding of the matter. absolutely litigation privilege, as the privilege has never been extended to statements made to parties unrelated to the litigation as part of an attorney advertisement. This Court has recognized "the long-standing common law rule that communications uttered or published in the course of judicial proceedings are absolutely privileged," rendering those who made the communications immune from civil liability. Fink, 118 Nev. at 432-33 (quoting Circus Circus Hotels v. Witherspoon, 99 Nev. 56, 60, 657 P.2d 101, 104 (1983)) (emphasis added). "The policy behind the [litigation] privilege, as it applies to attorneys participating in judicial proceedings, is to grant them 'as officers of the court the utmost freedom in their efforts to obtain justice for their clients." Id. at 433, 49 P.3d at 643 (quoting Bull v. McCuskey, 96 Nev. 706, 712, 615 P.2d 957, 961 (1980) abrogated on other grounds by Ace Truck & Equip. Rentals, Inc. v. Kahn, 103 Nev. 503, 746 P.2d 132 (1987), abrogated by Bongiovi v. Sullivan, 122 Nev. 556, 138 P.3d 433 (2006)).

While the privilege is broad, it applies only to communications made during actual judicial proceedings, and communications preliminary to a proposed judicial

proceeding, if the communication is made in contemplation of initiation of the proceeding. *Fink*, 118 Nev. at 433-34. Here, no statement was made during actual judicial proceedings. Instead, the district court ruled that the statements were made as part of an attorney advertisement. 2 A.A. 406. Furthermore, the statement was made about the district court litigation after the resolution of the matter, and therefore cannot be found to be made during actual judicial proceedings.

A "[party's] statements to someone who is not directly involved with the actual or anticipated judicial proceeding will be covered by the absolute privilege only if the recipient of the communication is significantly interested in the proceeding." Fink, 118 Nev. at 428 (internal quotation marks omitted). Here, the statement is undoubtedly not made to anyone "significantly interested in the litigation," but rather to potential clients of the Appellants for the purposes of marketing. Additionally, "[i]n order to determine whether a person who is not directly involved in the judicial proceeding may still be 'significantly interested in the proceeding,' the district court must review 'the recipient's legal relationship to the litigation, not their interest as an observer." Shapiro, 389 P.3d at 268-69, quoting Jacobs, 130 Nev., Adv. Op. 44, 325 P.3d at 1287. Appellants never requested such a review, and furthermore, even if such a review was conducted, potential clients of Appellants undoubtedly have no legal relationship to the Singletary litigation.

Accordingly, Appellants' arguments relating to the absolute litigation privilege must be disregarded by this Court.

C. THIS COURT MUST REJECT APPELLANTS' APPEAL BECAUSE REINSTATEMENT OF THE UNDERLYING VERDICT DOES NOT IMPACT THE PARTIES TO THIS LITIGATION.

Appellants grossly misrepresent the ruling of this Court in reinstating a portion of *Singletary* verdict. Truth be told, this Court only reinstated the verdict against non-parties to the instant matter, and the verdict **in favor** of Respondent (the only Plaintiff in the underlying district court litigation) remains intact. 2 A.A. 418-421 (holding that the verdict was reinstated as to Summerlin Smiles and Dr. Traivai **only**, and further upholding the award of costs **in favor** of Respondent).

Incredibly, Appellants assert that "Lee cannot have a cause of action for defamation per se based upon a void order since this Court's reinstatement relates back to the jury's verdict, as a matter of law." Opening Brief, pp. 25-26. This is an outright misrepresentation to this Court. As discussed above, Respondent Dr. Lee received a jury verdict and award of costs in his favor (1 A.A. 73-75), while the later reinstatement of the jury verdict applies only to non-parties to this litigation (2 A.A. 418-421, holding that the verdict was reinstated as to Summerlin Smiles and Dr. Traivai **only**, and further upholding the award of costs **in favor** of Respondent Dr. Lee). Appellants' entire argument relating to the reinstatement of the jury verdict in the *Singletary* matter must be disregarded by this Court due to

its irrelevance as it only related to non-parties to the instant litigation, and due to Appellants' blatant misrepresentation of this Court's ruling.

D. APPELLANTS' RELIANCE ON THE FAIR REPORTING PRIVILEGE IS IMPROPER AND WAS CORRECTLY REJECTED BY THE DISTRICT COURT.

Appellants also assert that the subject attorney advertisement is protected by the fair report privilege. "Invocation of the privilege [] requires the district court to determine whether the [party's] statements were fair, accurate, and impartial." *Lubin v. Kunin*, 117 Nev. 107, 115 (2001); see also Dorsey v. National Enquirer, *Inc.*, 973 F.2d 1431, 1435 (9th Cir. 1992) (cited by *Lubin*) (citing California law for the proposition that the question of whether a magazine's account is a "fair and true" report is one of law, so long as "there is no dispute as to what occurred in the judicial proceeding reported upon or as to what was contained in the report").

Again, the fair report privilege requires a fair, accurate, and impartial reporting of a case. Here, the statement is *per se* partial, as the statement is an attorney advertisement and cannot constitute a "report" in any sense of the word. Second, it is neither fair nor impartial as the jury verdicts cited were actually in favor of Respondent, and (at the time the statements were made) vacated as against all other defendants to the *Singletary* litigation.

Notwithstanding the above, the procedure to evaluate an Anti-SLAPP special motion to dismiss under NRS 41.660 is spelled out by the statute and

relevant case law, and the entire analysis is contained above. This interlocutory appeal is limited to that analysis, and any other additional arguments, including the invocation of the fair report privilege, are properly raised in a post-judgment appeal or writ petition. Such arguments are not appropriate in the instant appeal, and must be disregarded by this Court. Based on the foregoing, the district court did not abuse its discretion in denying the special motion to dismiss.

E. APPELLANTS' ARGUMENTS RELATED TO THE NEVADA RULES OF PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT ARE COMPLETELY IRRELEVANT TO THE INSTANT APPEAL.

Appellants also assert that by including reference to the Nevada Rules of Professional Conduct in Respondent's Complaint, somehow the entire appealed order must be reversed. Again, the procedure to evaluate an Anti-SLAPP special motion to dismiss under NRS 41.660 is spelled out by the statute and relevant case law, and the entire analysis is contained above. This interlocutory appeal is limited to that analysis, and any other additional arguments, including the invocation of the fair report privilege, are properly raised in a post-judgment appeal or writ petition.

This argument is entirely irrelevant to the instant appeal, and Appellants cannot show how inclusion of an allegation in the Complaint demonstrates that the district court abused its discretion in denying the special motion to dismiss. Additionally, this argument is not appropriate in the instant appeal, and must be

disregarded by this Court. Based on the foregoing, the district court did not abuse its discretion in denying the special motion to dismiss.

F. APPELLANTS' ARGUMENTS RELATED TO "PROTECTED COMMERCIAL SPEECH" ARE IMPROPERLY RAISED FOR THE FIRST TIME ON APPEAL AND, NONETHELESS, ARE INAPPLICABLE TO THE FACTS OF THIS MATTER.

This Court must reject Appellants' attempt to characterize the defamatory statement as "protected commercial speech" because (1) the argument was not previously invoked at the district court level, (2) the argument is not relevant to the instant interlocutory appeal, and (3) the argument is nonetheless inapplicable to the facts of this matter.

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